
MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, April 23, 2026 
Page 1 

 Minutes  

Minutes 

City of Redondo Beach – Regular Meeting 

Budget & Finance Commission  

Thursday, April 23, 2026  

 

 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE BUDGET AND FINANCE COMMISSION – 6:30 P.M. 

 

A. CALL MEETING TO ORDER 

A Regular Meeting of the Redondo Beach Budget and Finance Commission was called 

to order at 6:30 p.m. by Chair Woodham, in the City Hall Council Chambers, 415 Diamond 

Street, Redondo Beach, California. 

B. ROLL CALL 

Commissioners Present:   Marin, Jeste, Allen, Sherbin, Chair Woodham 

Commissioners Absent: Ramcharan, Turner 

Officials Present:  Stephanie Meyer, Finance Director  

 Jacob Kamsvaag, Administrative Analyst/Liaison 

 

C. SALUTE TO THE FLAG 

Chair Woodham led in the salute to the flag. 

D. APPROVE ORDER OF AGENDA 

Motion by Commissioner Marin, seconded by Commissioner Jeste, to approve the order 

of the agenda as presented. 

Motion carried 5-0-2 by voice vote. Commissioners Ramcharan and Turner were absent.  

E. BLUE FOLDER ITEMS - ADDITIONAL BACK UP MATERIALS  

E.1.  For Blue Folder Documents Approved at the Budget and Finance 
Commission Meeting  

Liaison Kamsvaag reported no Blue Folder items. 

F.  CONSENT CALENDAR  

F.1.  APPROVAL OF AFFIDAVIT OF POSTING FOR THE REGULAR BUDGET AND 

FINANCE COMMISSION MEETING OF APRIL 23, 2026  



MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, April 23, 2026 
Page 2 

F.2.  APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES FROM THE REGULAR MEETING OF MARCH 

12, 2026 

Motion by Commissioner Marin, seconded by Commissioner Sherbin, to approve the 

Consent Calendar as written. 

Motion carried 4-0-3 by voice vote. Commissioner Allen abstained since she was not at 

the March 12, 2026 meeting. Commissioners Ramcharan and Turner were absent.  

G. EXCLUDED CONSENT CALENDAR ITEMS - None 
 

H. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS  

H.1.  For eComments and Emails Received from the Public 

Jim Mueller stated that surveys of North Redondo Beach residents have been done 
regarding what they would like to have in their community; spoke about the NRB Farmers 
Market from the day before and commented that it was a live demonstration of what the 
community wants; stated residents don’t want rooftop dining and described residents 
wanting a place to sit, chat, and spend time with their families and friends; said residents 
want more businesses that involve community events centered on families and couples; 
stated when he goes to community meetings they are made up of residents that are 
normally complaining about e-Bikes and homelessness and not the people he saw at the 
Farmers Market; questioned who has requested rooftop dining; noted that this is a 
concern for Budget and Finance because the residents who don’t find what they want in 
their own city go to other cities and spend their money and used Manhattan Village, Del 
Amo Mall, and Hermosa as examples; commented that the recent measure to eliminate 
parking requirements was good; referred to the Strategic Plan and said he sees the 
AREAS contract as the input basis for economic development for Artesia Blvd. and 
reported it was approved on January 1st but no public update has been given; asked when 
the FAR vote would be taken; asked if the specific procurement plan and placements 
meet the budget timeline; wanted an explanation as to why rooftop dining is crucial to the 
Strategic Plan; stated that there is nothing in the Strategic Plan about walkability, reducing 
the traffic speeds, or providing real public spaces; commented that the AACAP was 
approved in 2019 and wanted a status update; commented that there is nothing about the 
Galleria property in the Strategic Plan and asked if a budget provision was needed to get 
that started; asked the Commission to make a recommendation to the City Council to look 
in the budget and find what the people of North Redondo really want. 

Liaison Kamsvaag reported no Zoom comments and no one online. 

I.  ITEMS CONTINUED FROM PREVIOUS AGENDAS - None 

J. ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION PRIOR TO ACTION  

J.1.  FISCAL YEAR 2026-27 BUDGET INPUT  



MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, April 23, 2026 
Page 3 

City Manager Witzansky noted he was there to take input from the Commission for the 
budget development process for the City and to give the Commission a chance to provide 
early input for that budget document; reported that the budget would be presented to 
Council on or about the weekend of May 15–16 and a formal receive-and-file presentation 
will take place at the May 19 City Council meeting; stated that the Commission would 
receive a formal budget presentation at a late May meeting. 

Chair Woodham asked the City Manager if the City had any major expense items that 
would be unusual in size or scope. 

City Manager Witzansky noted that they are still working on final numbers but the City is 
planning on another soft year in as far as revenue from TOT; stated the 26-27 revenue 
estimate will be higher than the 25-26 fiscal year numbers; commented that there is a lot 
of uncertainty in the international visitor market and they have had challenges in 
household income and local spending; stated that the World Cup activities occurring in 
the region in June should help provide some spike in the 25-26 returns; said they continue 
to be bearish in the TOT category and may be forced to make some tough decisions in 
the budget; said he may need to recommend a flexible hiring freeze to take advantage of 
vacancies in the organization but is committed to doing all he can to not draw from the 
CalPERS reserve account again this year in order to balance; stated they are trying to 
provide a balanced budget by relying on fund balance savings from the midyear process 
and by being creative with their savings strategies; reported that they have $4.5 million in 
the CalPERS reserve; reported they are seeing some relief in their Unfunded Accrued 
Liability payment structure, potential relief in the Miscellaneous category of their PERS 
costs, and a possibility to extinguish the Miscellaneous PERS Unfunded Liability at the 
conclusion of next fiscal year, which would lower the City’s payment; noted it all depends 
on how the market finishes in the 25-26 fiscal year; reported that they expect strong 
property tax revenues, sales tax will remain flat, charges for services are doing well, 
parking revenue has increased, success with the Emergency Response Fee that was 
implemented last year, and the City’s program participation fee and special event charges 
are on the rise; commented that the biggest hole in the budget is the TOT projection. 

Chair Woodham asked what the City’s high was in TOT contribution. 

City Manager Witzansky responded that pre-Covid it was almost $10 million and at this 
time, the City is at $6 million this year. 

Chair Woodham commented that there is a delta of $3 to $5 million; asked for an update 
on the Galleria and whether they are still trying to get financing. 

City Manager Witzansky reported that the Galleria went out to bid last year and he was 
told they were unhappy with the bids, they are reassessing, and he has been told they 
are considering taking on a partner in building the project as entitled; stated that the City 
has given them full entitlement, approved the initial 300 units, provided a secondary 
entitlement increasing the units to 650, and they have the potential to build houses on the 
northeast corner and southwest corner; noted that construction lending is high so it has 
been a struggle for them but the City has done all they can to incentivize redevelopment 



MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, April 23, 2026 
Page 4 

at that site; noted that the Galleria used to be the City’s largest sales tax driver and 
accounted for 40 to 60% of the City’s annual sales tax revenue and now it accounts for 
less than 10%. 

Chair Woodham asked if the AES site is still tied up. 

City Manager Witzansky responded that it is still tied up in bankruptcy and litigation. 

Chair Woodham referred to Jim Mueller’s comments and asked about economic 
development in North Redondo and middle Redondo. 

City Manager Witzansky stated that the AACAP document has been in place for years 
and the City has taken the administrative actions to make the changes to incentivize 
reinvestment in the properties; reported that the challenge is the absentee ownership of 
the properties in the area and a lot of the owners are trusts that don’t live in the community; 
explained that the City hired a company called AREAS and they will find and create a list 
decision makers for each of the properties and explain to the decision makers the new 
development opportunities that exist; spoke about the FAR cap discussion that was 
presented to the voters and that the election is targeted for November unless they decide 
to do a special election earlier; stated that if the AACAP development increases that need 
to be approved through Article 27 happen in September, October, or November timeframe 
it will be a big step towards incentivization as it will give developers more flexibility to do 
things on their premises, noted that the Council already eliminated parking requirements; 
went into more detail on the environment the City is trying to create for the area and used 
the NRB Farmers Market as a good example of what they are looking to create; 
commented that Artesia has received more attention from Council and staff in the last two 
years than ever before but that the development community is really needed; spoke briefly 
about the GrubHaus project, noted that they fast tracked permitting but the ownership has 
stalled; commented that a lot is happening on the private side that is not bringing things 
forward and that the City is not the barrier for redevelopment; stated they should have an 
update from AREAS in a few months and their charge is to create the inventory and pair 
them with prospective developers who have concepts in line with the AACAP. 

To answer Chair Woodham’s question, City Manager Witzansky said that absentee 
owners seem content with collecting rent from operators and not dealing with tax 
implications of reinvestment or sale, that Prop 13 can prevent reinvestment, and provided 
other reasons why owners have been reluctant to release their properties; reported that 
they have lots of trusts in the Artesia area. 

Commissioner Jeste asked for an update on the Police HQ and Fire Stations and the 
bond issue. 

City Manager Witzansky explained they have separated the project into two buckets: 1) 
Police Station rebuild and the Annex renovation and 2) Fire Station 1 and 2 
reconstruction; reported they solicited proposals from prospective progressive design 
building contractor firms, shortlisted it to four prospects on each side, interviewed for the 
Police group last Tuesday, and interviewed for the Fire group earlier that day; stated that 



MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, April 23, 2026 
Page 5 

their evaluation team will review and shortlist it further and start the due diligence 
reference check process; hoped to make recommendations to Council in the next couple 
of months. 

Commissioner Jeste asked what the latest projection is for the total cost. 

City Manager Witzansky noted it is a two-step process, the firm will give the City a general 
estimate, 60-70% of design is done, and then a final negotiated price will be provided; 
stated, given the information they have, they should be able to deliver on budget; said his 
guess is they will probably issue the bonds later in the fall because they will be spending 
significant money and have been floating their pre-concept cost so far. 

Commissioner Sherbin asked if the configuration of the Fire Department buildings were 
going to accommodate paramedic transport since 95% of the calls are for paramedic 
services; reported a recent incident of a heart attack in his neighborhood and mentioned 
three RBFD vehicles plus the private ambulance came to the call and commented it felt 
overloaded.  

City Manager Witzansky stated that most of the RBFD are paramedic service certified 
and they are able to deliver advanced life support services from almost every unit so when 
a call goes out sometimes it is the heavy equipment that shows up to the call; reported 
that he and Fire Chief Butler recently spoke about making a concerted effort to keep the 
ladder truck in the station unless it is needed. 

Commissioner Sherbin asked if the paramedic service could do three 8-hour shifts instead 
of sleeping at the Fire Station. 

City Manager Witzansky explained that if they have operators on the rig all trained in 
advanced life support and paramedic service that is a paramedic unit except they cannot 
transport anybody in the engine and that is where McCormick Ambulance comes to the 
scene; stated that is how it is meant to work to be flexible to provide rescue support, fire 
suppression, and paramedic service; noted with the EMS fee being charged, the City is 
getting some return if they are called to an incident that could have been administered at 
an Urgent Care; stated it is important for the City to work in tandem to some degree and 
be on standby for a potential emergency or rescue call. 

Commissioner Sherbin asked if they could somehow send out smaller vehicles for the 
paramedic calls with less operators than having the big fire engines that are fully equipped 
and staffed. 

City Manager Witzansky explained that they can’t break up the unit needed to respond in 
case the event is significant; added that the Fire Chief and his command team make 
efforts to be as efficient with the rollout as they can be. 

Chair Woodham, regarding CalPERS, reported that the first two quarters of the fiscal year 
had a 7.7% return but the third quarter was disappointing; stated about a week ago, the 
S&P recovered its loss for the first quarter and commented that if things hold steady 
CalPERS will make their 6.8%. 



MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, April 23, 2026 
Page 6 

City Manager Witzansky stated what they need is for CalPERS to just meet their return 
mark or more and that would be good for the City. 

Finance Director Meyer noted that the City ramps in the losses and gains for the upcoming 
years of their unfunded liability, so the positive impact they are projecting for the next few 
years won’t even be at the high point of the impact of the gains that they have seen from 
the last few years.  

Discussion followed regarding the CalPERS reserve. 

Chair Woodham stated it was the CalPERS payment that really caused the issue, so the 
City could justify going into the reserve for some amount of money to cover it. 

City Manager Witzansky reported that the CalPERS payment they made last year for UAL 
far exceeded what they took from the reserve account; provided some explanation on 
how the City has used the fund in the past but they are hoping they won’t need to this 
year. 

Commissioner Allen asked if there is a document that summarizes the Strategic Plan 
Meeting. 

City Manager Witzansky reported that the draft document will go to the City Council on 
May 5th and the City Council will consider adopting the Strategic Plan at that meeting.  

Commissioner Allen commented that without that document she has no data in front of 
her to give any input.  

City Manager Witzansky responded that the prior Strategic Plan is available online and 
still active if she wants to view that; stated that there were about 100 items and about 30 
had been completed over the prior planning period but the goals were not changed much 
and it is largely a continuation of the momentum they built last year; announced he would 
be back at the end of next month. 

Liaison Kamsvaag invited public comment. 

Jim Mueller stated, as the City Manager described earlier, the City has a whole cadre of 
rent collectors on Artesia Blvd. slowly strangling the community; said that the Farmers 
Market showed that there are people within walking distance of Artesia Blvd. with money 
to spend but they don’t spend it on Artesia Blvd.; stated there has to be something that 
can be done to force the rent collectors to give up their property or at least allow it to be 
used for the public interest; asked that the Budget & Finance Commission recommend to 
the City Council that they search for a way to remove the rent collectors off Artesia Blvd.; 
stated that he and Georgette Gantner have been interested in a property at 2017-2019 
Artesia Blvd., which has been vacant for at least 12 years, noted that Ms. Gantner would 
like to put a community center at that location and has been working with OurNRB to 
assist her; reported that Ms. Gantner has already been in contact with the owner of the 
property and has been able to persuade that person to listen to her proposal; said the 



MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, April 23, 2026 
Page 7 

goal of OurNRB is to offer things in the area to benefit public interest and to have their 
dollars spent in their community. 

Steve Hague, 35-year resident, commented that he has felt like Redondo Beach is anti-
business for many years and used Artesia Blvd. as an example; stated that the area is 
neglected and questioned the types of businesses the City has allowed to occupy Artesia 
Blvd.; commented that two thirds of the kids live in North Redondo and safety is a concern 
along with e-Bikes; voiced his concern over the LGBTQ+ statue that is scheduled to be 
placed in front of the Library and stated very little discussion has happened since it was 
mentioned in January; stated that he has done his work and 90% of the people in the 
area do not want that statue there and hoped it was not done.  

Liaison Kamsvaag reported no one on Zoom and no eComments. 

J.2. PROFESSIONAL SERVICES PROCUREMENT  

Finance Director Meyer provided an update on the City's ongoing Citywide procurement 
review process, noting that work continued on identifying the precise amount spent 
annually on professional versus contractual services; reported that the City’s purchasing 
lead is working on a detailed analysis of each professional services engagement to 
identify the services of the vendor and the procurement process that was followed; stated 
that they are not required to do any competitive bidding for professional services but they 
often do and the analysis will show the type of circumstances that warrant the bid; stated 
that they have an ongoing Citywide process to look at several aspects of purchasing in 
greater detail and wanted to share the project plan with the Commission; showed on the 
screen the project plan; explained that they have a number of task forces and are currently 
in the middle of phase II and III; noted that Administrative Analyst Jacob Kamsvaag is on 
a number of those task forces, including professional services; explained that they are 
looking at the City’s entire system workflow including policies and procedures, best 
practices, planning, current state, and then they will present recommendations internally; 
acknowledged that the public and Commission have shown some interest in this matter 
and welcomed any best practices from other organizations or recommendations. 

Commissioner Allen inquired about the total professional services agreements they spoke 
about at a previous Commission meeting and thought Director Meyer was supposed to 
provide that broken down by department.  

Finance Director Meyer responded that they don’t have the data broken down in their 

financial system between professional and contractual services, so it is a much more 

complicated task. 

Commissioner Allen noted that, in a budget, there is usually a line item for professional 

services and questioned if the City has that line item. 

Finance Director Meyer responded that they have a line item that combines contractual 

and professional services. 



MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, April 23, 2026 
Page 8 

Commissioner Allen commented that is a problem and suggested that the Commission 

recommend having a separate line item for professional services. 

Commissioner Marin asked if there was a professional services line under each 

individual group or department. 

Finance Director Meyer reiterated that they have a combined line item for professional 

and contractual services and that line item is broken down by department which is then 

broken down further by specific org or subdivision; explained their process allows them  

to combine the data in ways that would help them view data by fund, by project, if a 

contract crosses departments, etc.; said that they can look into adding in a factor to do 

as Commissioner Allen suggested. 

Commissioner Sherbin asked if they separate the professional services from the 

contractual services since the contractual services require an outside bid.  

Finance Director Meyer explained that by the time they enter the requisition the project 

has already gone through a competitive bid or noncompetitive bid and the backup 

documentation would be in the agreement, noted that the agreement will not necessarily 

have the procurement process in it. 

Commissioner Sherbin asked at what stage the departments communicate to the 

Finance Department if goods or services are needed and if there is a document the 

department gives to the Finance Department during that communication stage. 

Finance Director Meyer responded that the departments contact them when they have a 

need that requires the Finance Department’s involvement and explained that the closest 

document would be the RFP but that is not a formal process through the City’s financial 

system; provided more details on the City’s process for RFPs and that the Finance 

Department is not always involved.  

More discussion followed. Director Meyer noted that anything under $5,000 does not 

require authorization but anything over requires at least two quotes and documentation 

for Finance. 

More discussion followed regarding the need to identify where in the system they could 

add the data point and it would require a very detailed analysis first. 

Commissioner Sherbin asked if the Commission could get a copy of her outline on 

purchasing. 

Finance Director Meyer indicated she would look into providing it. 

Chair Woodham referenced a previous discussion regarding determining the amounts 

that go out for bid and the amounts that did not in regard to procurement and asked if 

those numbers were still being reviewed. 



MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, April 23, 2026 
Page 9 

Finance Director Meyer replied that it is still in process; noted that the General Fund 

total for combined contractual and professional services is approximately $7.1 million.  

Liaison Kamsvaag reported no one on Zoom and no eComments. 

Motion by Commissioner Allen, seconded by Commissioner Jeste, to write a letter to the 
City Council recommending the City Council require the City to have a separate 
professional services line item separate from all contractual services in the budget book 
so it can be tracked and to officially require a process to have a minimum of three bids 
for services less than $50,000 and an RFP for services of $50,000 plus. 

Chair Woodham asked if there is anything in the City’s charter, ordinances, or regulations 
that state limits for purchase orders. 

Finance Director Meyer replied that, for professional services, the only statement made 
in the City’s municipal code is that competition is not required; stated that the City has 
internal policies that set thresholds for purchase order requisition and for competitive 
bidding for items that do require competitive bidding. 

Discussion followed regarding the requirements for a PO for professional services and 
the definition of professional services, which is in the municipal code, and the need to 
separate it out so it can be tracked. 

Chair Woodham asked if the amounts are in the City Charter and if so, that would require 
a Charter amendment. 

Finance Director Meyer reported that only Public Works is in the City Charter. 

Discussion followed regarding the motion on the floor. 

Motion carried 5-0-2 by voice vote. Commissioners Ramcharan and Turner were absent.  

Chair Woodham suggested that Commissioner Allen draft the letter and send him a copy. 

Finance Director Meyer stated that he needs to review and sign it as the Chair. 

The Commission decided Chair Woodham could send it directly to the City Council and 

BCC the rest of the Commission. 

J.3. DISCUSSION REGARDING THE CIP SUBCOMMITTEE ACTIVITY  

Finance Director Meyer noted that this is a recurring item to ensure the CIP subcommittee 
provides the Commission with any updates and move towards providing a 
recommendation to the Council. 

Chair Woodham reported that only one member of the subcommittee was present that 
evening; asked Commissioner Jeste if he had any comments. 



MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, April 23, 2026 
Page 10 

Commissioner Jeste reported that he went through all the CIP projects completed last 
year and all were different; stated the change order process was established 32 years 
ago and has not been updated; stated that the upfront planning is not good and that the 
City resorts to spending money through the change order process; said the best example 
is the Manhattan Beach Inglewood Avenue rework, reported that the project lasted 10 
years which indicates it was not urgent. 

Chair Woodham asked him to elaborate on the project. 

Commissioner Jeste noted that it was a complicated project and offered to summarize it 
and provide a report; stated that his point of contention has been why doesn’t the City get 
bids for everything that is over a certain amount; reported that the City Engineer is 
authorized to spend up to $25,000 for any emergency on projects and has used that 
judiciously and sparingly but that limit was raised from $25,000 to $100,000 for this 
project; questioned why that decision was made; reported that of all the money spent on 
CIPs last year, 80% was on change orders; said he looked at the jobs that invited bids 
and the difference between the lowest and the highest bid was between 5% and 7.5%, 
so contended that if the City solicits bids for everything over $25,000 there would be a big 
cost savings; opined that the change order process is used more often than necessary; 
mentioned he wrote a letter to the Mayor about the issues and that the Mayor responded 
that the CIP process is confusing, he suggested changes, and no changes have been 
made; commented that the City Council has been rubber stamping all the change orders 
with no discussion, no questions, and no presentation of data; stated without data there 
is no way to improve the process to make it more cost effective or more efficient; 
recommended a total revamp of the entire CIP process and management and to separate 
the maintenance from the capital improvement. 

Commissioner Allen asked the Finance Director to confirm that both the CIP projects and 
the maintenance projects are lumped together. 

Finance Director Meyer stated that the City considers both of them as part of the larger 
Capital Improvement Program. 

Chair Woodham and Finance Director Meyer spoke to the fact that some maintenance 
items take on a nature similar to a CIP and that is why they fall under that category; 
Director Meyer added the large dollar items, such as the City’s residential rehab or annual 
street repaving, would be types of maintenance projects that would fall under CIP in the 
budget. 

Commissioner Sherbin provided more definition to what distinguishes the maintenance 
activity to fall under CIP. 

Commissioner Jeste continued with his recommendations; recommended doing away 
with the change order process, noted that the Engineer is authorized to spend up to 
$25,000 for emergencies, and commented that nothing else should fall into the change 
order category. 



MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, April 23, 2026 
Page 11 

Discussion followed regarding contractors preferring the change orders to having to go 
through a bid.   

Chair Woodham stated that the contractors have an agreed upon price. 

Commissioner Jeste stated that it is not the price but the extension of the project that he 
is focused on; spoke about poor planning, reliance on change orders, and instances 
where additional funding sources are provided; noted that some projects get completed 
and the City will add onto the original scope and just give the job to the original contractor 
without getting bids. 

Chair Woodham commented that the extension of a project is done under the mandates 
of an RFP process that has been done so it is under contractual terms. 

Commissioner Jeste said from what he looked at the project number and the contract 
description doesn’t change, the only change is the source of funding or the additional 
work the City requests to be done. 

Chair Woodham stated he could not make a decision based on what they have done so 
far and he would want to review the information from the Public Works meetings before 
making a decision. 

Commissioner Allen questioned what information Chair Woodham felt he needed. 

Chair Woodham responded that he would like to hear the Public Works Director’s 
explanation regarding change orders and whether or not he knows they are not being 
charged higher prices by not going out for bids. 

More discussion followed, Commissioner Jeste stated that every project is unique, so it 
is difficult to generalize it; Commissioner Sherbin opined that just knowing 80% of the 
cost is based on change orders is enough to indicate there is a problem with the planning 
on the front end. 

Commissioner Jeste reported that the subcommittee met with the Planning staff and staff 
defended their process and assured the subcommittee that they understood the costs; 
told Chair Woodham that based on everything he has looked at he recommends that the 
whole process needs to be revamped. 

More discussion followed. Chair Woodham suggested that the conversation and 
discussion should be done in front of the Public Works Director so he can answer the 
questions they have; noted that they have a joint meeting with Public Works in May and 
asked Director Meyer if they would be able to discuss budget and the City’s change order 
process at the same time.  

Finance Director Meyer replied that she could ask but commented that the Public Works 
Director has indicated that the Public Works Department has explained the process 
several times already and they did have a detailed meeting with the subcommittee as 
well; noted that it was unfortunate that two thirds of the subcommittee was not there that 



MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, April 23, 2026 
Page 12 

evening to share any additional information; stated she could look back at the transcripts 
and video of the meetings they have had and pull the details from there; said they could 
bring up their question at the joint meeting but cautioned the Commission that the focus 
should be on the budget and not the CIP process for the May meeting. 

Commissioner Allen said it is relevant to the budget. 

Commissioner Jeste and Chair Woodham reported that the funding for those is from 
outside sources so the City is not paying for it and would not be part of the budget 
discussion for the May meeting. 

Finance Director Meyer went into more explanation on how the CIP items are funded and 
how the City projects spending on the items; stated that the City only spends what is 
projected in the budget based on the information they are given.  

Chair Woodham stated that he did not want to speak for the Commission since he was 
absent for the meetings with Public Works. 

Commissioner Jeste read notes he took regarding two projects he highlighted; 
commented he noticed many projects start work and then additional funding becomes 
available and change orders are issued to the same contractor; provided details regarding 
Job No. 41240 Anita Street at PCH Improvement. 

Chair Woodham asked how Public Works responded to their questions regarding the 
issues Commissioner Jeste identified; commented that their response was probably that 
they had no way of knowing what would occur, and if that is the case, the only way to 
adjust for it would be through change orders; stated that the bid can only be based on 
information that they know. 

Commissioner Marin asked Commissioner Jeste if he was asking that the City send 
change orders over a certain level back out to bid.  

Chair Woodham stated that change orders will need to occur in some circumstances; 
noted that Commissioner Jeste mentioned a project that took 10 years and commented 
that was clearly not a normal project; stated that there must be the ability to provide for 
contingencies. 

Commissioner Jeste commented that if the scope of work changes significantly then the 
City should be required to get bids, which is not what currently happens. 

More discussion ensued.  

Commissioner Jeste stressed that the issues occur due to poor planning at the initial 
stage. 

Chair Woodham noted that Commissioner Jeste suggested to eliminate change orders 
and stated that would be impossible. Commissioner Allen agreed. 



MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, April 23, 2026 
Page 13 

Commissioner Jeste clarified that he did not say no change orders but suggested that 
anything over $25,000 should get a bid. 

Commissioner Allen opined that it starts with comprehensive planning at the RFP, how it 
is written, and the leadership behind it; suggested that they focus on that and not the 
change orders. 

Commissioner Sherbin said the philosophy should be that there will be change orders, 
but the change order should not exceed 10% of the total bid or the nature of the project 
has been changed too much, and then it is a new project and should go out to bid again.  

Chair Woodham acknowledged that the Commissioners all had valid points but wanted 
to know how the Public Works Department responded to their questions.  

Commissioner Sherbin recalled that the Public Works staff stated as the project develops, 
the scope changes due to different circumstances, they go back to the Council and the 
Council directs them to proceed; stated he did not hear any real evidence for the change 
and they do not go through another process of rebidding or reevaluation; voiced his 
concern that staff does not see the importance of defining the project in the beginning 
since they have the ability to move the goal as they need to. 

Commissioner Allen said the City needs to be more proactive and anticipate the changes; 
opined that they need an expert. 

Discussion followed regarding the qualifications of the City Engineer, establishing a 
philosophy to work within, and the need to develop criteria. 

Commissioner Jeste provided an example of an owner hiring a contractor to build a home 
and then adding a pool to the scope, noted that an owner would get new bids for the pool 
build.  

Chair Woodham commented that the discussion he understood was the change orders 
were adding units to the original RFP but the Commissioners are now discussing 
complete changes to the scope of the original project which would be a totally different 
item. 

More discussion followed that each project is different and rules need to be established 
for change orders; suggested that change orders can only be done based on the scope 
detailed in the RFP; discussion on what the Commission should present as their 
recommendation to the City Council. 

Chair Woodham suggested that they form a new subcommittee with Commissioners 
Jeste and Allen to draft the Commission’s recommendation to the City Council. 

Discussion followed regarding who would be on the subcommittee, what the draft 
recommendation would include, and what their motion should be. 

Liaison Kamsvaag reported no one on Zoom and no eComments. 



MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, April 23, 2026 
Page 14 

Finance Director Meyer stated she will find the meetings where Public Works was present 
and share the video and transcript with the Commission. 

Motion by Commissioner Allen, seconded by Commissioner Marin, to create a 
subcommittee of Commissioners Jeste, Sherbin, and Allen to draft a letter of 
recommendation to City Council regarding purchasing practices and bring it back to the 
Commission for approval.  

Motion carried 5-0-2 by voice vote. Commissioners Ramcharan and Turner were absent.  

J.4. WEBSITE CONTENT  

Commissioner Allen brought to the Commission’s attention that the City’s financial 

website is not public friendly and the financial information needs to be made accessible 

and comprehensible to the general public; stated that the reports presently available on 

the City's Finance website, including the ACFR, are hundreds of pages long and could 

not be understood without understanding finance.  

Finance Director Meyer reviewed the reports provided on the City’s website; agreed that 

the ACFR is not easily readable but noted it is not designed for the public, it is designed 

for accountants and for financial oversight, and needs to be kept in that format; 

proposed that a Popular Annual Financial Report (PAFR) be created, which would be 

more readable for the general public; reported that the City’s assistant director has 

experience with PAFR and could work on it; also proposed the creation of a budget 

snapshot and was open to any other ideas the Commission had to share financial 

information on the website; announced that the City's prior OpenGov transparency site, 

which costs approximately $10,000 per year, has been discontinued due to underuse 

and the expiration of the contract. 

Commissioner Allen suggested the City put a few pages of visual graphs on the website 
that are public friendly. 

Discussion followed. Director Meyer pointed out that the budget book is digital, easy to 
pull up, and the information is straight forward. 

Commissioner Allen noted that the information on the site is understandable to them 
because they are in the industry but is not to the general public. 

More discussion followed. 

Motion by Commissioner Allen, seconded by Commissioner Sherbin, to recommend that 
staff create summary budget charts to be available on the City’s website.  

Liaison Kamsvaag reported no one on Zoom and no eComments. 

Motion carried 5-0-2 by voice vote. Commissioners Ramcharan and Turner were absent.  



MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, April 23, 2026 
Page 15 

J.5.  PROPOSED REGULAR MAY MEETING DATE RESCHEDULING 

Chair Woodham stated the proposal is to move the Joint Meeting with PWSSC from April 
27, 2026 to later in May after the budget is presented by staff to the City Council. 

Finance Director Meyer proposed that the regular May meeting scheduled for May 14th, 

be rescheduled to May 26th; explained that the May 14th date falls directly before staff 

delivers the proposed budget to City Council, so no substantive document would yet be 

available for Commission review; noted after the budget has been presented to Council 

and received and filed on May 19th, the Commission would be able to have a 

substantive discussion; reported that it would also allow for an additional meeting in the 

second week of June before final budget adoption on June 16th. The Finance Director 

also proposed canceling the previously planned joint meeting with the Public Works 

Commission scheduled for the following Monday, April 27, and instead inviting the 

Public Works Commission to join the May 26th meeting. 

Motion by Commissioner Allen, seconded by Commissioner Marin, to change the May 
14th meeting to May 26th. 

Liaison Kamsvaag reported no one on Zoom and no eComments. 

Motion carried 5-0-2 by voice vote. Commissioners Ramcharan and Turner were absent.  

Chair Woodham stated they should keep in mind that Council discusses specific 

operations and parts of the budget on June 2nd and capital on June 9th; asked Director 

Meyer if staff is presenting on May 19th. 

Finance Director Meyer replied that she would be and explained that staff delivers the 

proposed budget document to Council by Charter on May 16th and would also send the 

Commission a copy on May 16th. 

Commissioner Allen argued that the purpose of the Commission is to provide input to the 

proposed budget document before it goes to Council. 

Discussion ensued regarding the timeline of when the proposed budget document is 

presented and when the City Council actually takes action on it. 

Finance Director Meyer clarified that the purpose of presenting the proposed budget 

document on May 19th is to present it in a public setting, the City Manager shares his 

vision for the budget, and Council will have time to review the information; noted that on 

May 19th it is a receive and file item for the City Council; stated that official budget 

discussions will begin on the first Tuesday in June and decisions and adoption of the 

budget will take place at the last City Council meeting in June.  

Commissioner Allen suggested that members of the Commission attend the meetings in 

June. 



MINUTES  
BUDGET & FINANCE COMMISSION 
Thursday, April 23, 2026 
Page 16 

K. COMMISSION MEMBER ITEMS AND FUTURE COMMISSION AGENDA 
TOPICS 

Discussion of what items will be on the next agenda followed. 

Chair Woodham stated that the full budget would be discussed and should be the primary 
topic, it was noted that Public Works may be attending their next meeting. 

Commissioner Allen noted that they also need to vote on the letters for approval. 

L. ADJOURNMENT  

Motion by Commissioner Allen, seconded by Commissioner Marin, to adjourn the meeting 
at 8:39 p.m. 

Motion carried 5-0-2 by voice vote. Commissioners Ramcharan and Turner were absent.  

The next meeting of the Redondo Beach Budget & Finance Commission will be a regular 
meeting to be held at 6:30 p.m. on May 14, 2026, in the Redondo Beach Council 
Chambers, at 415 Diamond Street, Redondo Beach, California.  

All written comments submitted via eComment are included in the record and available 
for public review on the City website. 

 

Respectfully submitted: 

 

_________________________________ 
Stephanie Meyer 
Finance Director 


